

Constitution for a populist party

Part 1: INTERPRETATION	3
Part 2: NAME AND OBJECTIVES	4
Name	4
Objectives	4
Part 3: ACTIVITIES	5
Activities	5
Branches	5
Employment	5
Part 4: SUPPORTERSHIP AND MEMBERSHIP	6
Supportership	6
Eligibility	6
Responsibilities	6
Rights	6
Termination	6
Membership	7
Eligibility	7
Responsibilities	7
Rights	8
Termination	8
Exclusion from supportership or membership	8
Subscriptions and terms of membership	9
Part 5: ORGANISATION	10
National Executive Committee (“NEC”)	10
Annual Conference	10
Emergency General Meetings (“EGMs”)	10
Authorised branches and groups	11
Part 6: NATIONAL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (“NEC”)	12
Powers	12
Composition	12
Eligibility	12

Election	13
Term of office	13
Termination	13
Conduct of meetings and quorum	14
Emergency NEC meetings	14
Part 7: PARTY LEADER	15
Status and powers	15
Election	15
Term of office	15
Termination	15
Deputy Leader	16
Interim Leader	16
Part 8: CHAIRMAN, TREASURER AND SECRETARY	17
Chairman	17
Treasurer	17
Secretary	17
Vice-Chairman	18
Separation of office	18
Part 9: DISCIPLINE	19
Discipline Committee	19
Remedies	19
Part 10: COMMENCEMENT AND AMENDMENT	20
Commencement	20
Amendment	20
Appendix: Ten principles to make Britain great again	21
Overarching principles	21
Culture	21
Education and economy	22
Defence and law and order	22

Part 1: INTERPRETATION

- 1.1 The masculine implies a person of either sex
- 1.2 Where the context so implies, the singular shall include the plural
- 1.3 “Branch” means a branch of the Party
- 1.4 “EGM” means an Extraordinary General Meeting
- 1.5 “NEC” means the National Executive Committee
- 1.6 “Party” means xxxx
- 1.7 “Rules” means rules made by the NEC under the Constitution

Part 2: NAME AND OBJECTIVES

Name

2.1 The Party:

- is registered as a Political Party with the Electoral Commission under the *Political Parties, Elections and Referendums Act 2000* (registration number: xxx).
- may use such other names as may be registered with the Electoral Commission and may also use informally such other names as be appropriate.

2.2 The Party:

- is a Limited Liability Company registered with Companies House under the *Companies Act 2006* (registration number: xxx).
- directors are its NEC members.

Objectives

2.3 The Party exists to win public support for:

- the principles set out in the attached Appendix, *Ten principles to make Britain great again*, and
 - all other Party policies,
- with the objective of realising them.

2.4 The aforesaid principles may be amended by a motion passed by either the NEC, the Annual Conference or an EGM providing such motion is passed by not less than two-thirds (of those who either voted for or against the motion or who abstained from voting).

Part 3: ACTIVITIES

Activities

3.1 The Party may pursue its objectives by, among others:

- developing a full range of policies on domestic and foreign affairs,
- training its supporters and members to argue for and promote its policies,
- participating and campaigning in any electoral process or referendum taking place within or impacting on the United Kingdom, and
- co-operating with other like-minded democratic parties, institutions and organisations for any purpose consistent with the Party's objectives.

3.2 The Party may further its objectives by, among others:

- raising funds and receiving contributions from any legal or natural person in such manner and to the extent and limits established by law, including but not limited to: loans, subscriptions, donations, provision of work or materials in kind,
- publishing, with or without charge, any document in any format,
- employing and paying persons to manage, supervise, organise and carry out the Party's objectives, administer the Party and meet the Party's obligations under the law,
- purchasing, leasing or holding real or personal property to carry out the Party's objectives and to conduct the Party's administration and to make arrangements for the management of any such property,
- investing any of the Party's monies in accordance with the *Trustee Act 1925*,
- carrying out any lawful act for attaining the Party's objectives and for the Party's proper administration,
- entering into contracts for the supply of goods and services, and
- undertaking any or all lawful activities under company law.

Branches

3.3 The NEC may establish, suspend or disband branches or other means of organisation.

Employment

3.4 The NEC may employ staff who:

3.4.1 Are not excluded from supportership or membership (as set out below).

3.4.2 Have it as an express condition of their employment that they are not so excluded. This requirement only applies to those who commence employment on or after the Constitution's coming into force.

Part 4: SUPPORTERSHIP AND MEMBERSHIP

Supportership

Eligibility

4.1 Supportership is open to any natural person who:

- shares the Party's objectives,
- abides by the Constitution,
- complies with the responsibilities set out below,
- has paid any required subscription fee, and
- has not been excluded from supportership (as set out below).

Responsibilities

4.2 Supporters are:

- encouraged to build support for the Party and its objectives, and
- required to conduct themselves at all times so as not to bring the Party into disrepute.

Rights

4.3 Supporters may:

- state publicly that they are Party supporters,
- attend Party meetings and activities for Party supporters, and
- progress to being Party members.

Termination

4.4 Supportership may be terminated by the supporter:

- allowing his supportership to lapse which is deemed if he is in arrears of any required subscription fee for more than 14 days,
- giving written notice to the Party (and such notice has effect either immediately or at any date within 28 days, as stipulated by the supporter), or
- upon his death in which case termination takes place upon death.

4.5 Supportership may be terminated by the Party:

- giving written notice to the supporter, either in person or at his known postal or electronic address, which has effect either immediately or at any date within 28 days, as stipulated by the Party, or
- on the grounds that any of the conditions of eligibility (as set out above) or any other Rule, condition, or decision of the NEC relating to his supportership ceases to be satisfied.

Membership

Eligibility

4.6 Membership is open to any natural person who:

- shares the Party's objectives,
- abides by the Constitution,
- complies with the responsibilities set out below,
- has paid any required subscription fee (which can be additional to and greater than that paid for supportership),
- has not been excluded from membership (as set out below), and
- has been approved for membership by the NEC (as set out below).

4.7 The NEC may approve a supporter for membership who has:

- demonstrated a sufficient:
 - understanding of the Party's objectives, and
 - ability and willingness to argue for these objectives, and
- demonstrated the above over a period of supportership:
 - of at least 12 months, or
 - less than 12 months where the NEC is satisfied that there are exceptional circumstances arising from the supporter's track record and circumstances.

Responsibilities

4.8 Members are required at all times to:

- build support for the Party and its objectives, and
- conduct themselves so as not to bring the Party into disrepute.

Rights

4.9 Members may:

- state publicly that they are Party members,
- attend Party meetings and activities for Party members, and
- vote in elections to fill elected positions within the Party as provided for by the Constitution, Rules or NEC.

Termination

4.10 Membership may be terminated by the member:

- allowing his membership to lapse which is deemed if he is in arrears of any required membership fee for more than 14 days,
- giving written notice to the Party, (and such notice has effect either immediately or at any date within 28 days, as stipulated by the member), or
- upon his death in which case termination takes place upon death.

4.11 Membership may be terminated by the Party:

- giving written notice to the member, either in person or at his known postal or electronic address, which has effect either immediately or at any date within 28 days, as stipulated by the Party, or
- on the grounds that any of the conditions of eligibility (as set out above) or any other Rule, condition or decision of the NEC relating to his membership ceases to be satisfied.

Exclusion from supportership or membership

4.12 The NEC may exclude from supportership or membership any natural person or class of persons on grounds that supportership or membership (as the case may be) would be inimical to the interests of the Party and where it deems it appropriate it may give brief reasons.

4.13 Without prejudice to the aforesaid power the Party Chairman (or, in his absence, his designated deputy) shall be entitled, subject to the approval of the NEC, to exclude from supportership or membership (as the case may be) any natural person on the grounds that such status would not be beneficial to the Party's objectives.

4.14 The above powers of exclusion may be exercised by:

- refusing to admit any person to supportership or membership (whether or not he has previously held either status), or
- revoking any person's supportership or membership.

4.15 The above powers of exclusion may be:

- exercised for an indefinite or finite period,

- made subject to conditions that will need to be satisfied before the person or class of persons will be considered for supportership or membership (as the case may be), and
- without refunding any subscription fee paid by the supporter or member, unless the NEC decides otherwise.

4.16 Any exercise of the above powers of exclusion may be accompanied with brief reasons if the NEC so decides and does not carry any right of appeal.

4.17 A person whose supportership or membership (as the case may be) allows his status to lapse for more than 28 days will have to re-apply but need not satisfy article 4.7 above (12 months of prior supportership in order to become a member) if the NEC waves the requirement.

Subscriptions and terms of membership

4.18 The NEC shall set annual subscription fees for its supporters and members as it deems appropriate and may define and set differential subscriptions for different categories of supporter and member.

4.19 The NEC may make rules concerning affiliation to the Party by other organisations. Such affiliated bodies shall not enjoy any voting rights under the Constitution.

Part 5: ORGANISATION

National Executive Committee (“NEC”)

- 5.1 The Party’s National Executive Committee (“NEC”) is the Party’s political, managerial and administrative authority for the purposes of company law and generally.
- 5.2 The NEC may make rules concerning, among others, the Party’s organisation, structure and procedure which are not provided for in the Constitution.
- 5.3 Save for the above, the NEC’s powers and its functioning are described in Part 6 below.

Annual Conference

- 5.4 The NEC will organise an Annual Conference for its members, or their authorised representatives, to:
 - discuss the Party’s principles, policies and strategy,
 - consider motions on the above, and
 - elect NEC members (including the Party Leader).
- 5.5 The Annual Conference is to be held annually and the next one should be within 13 months of the previous one unless the NEC decides by a motion passed by not less than two-thirds (of those who either voted for or against the motion or who abstained from voting) that there are exceptional circumstances that justify a postponement.

Emergency General Meetings (“EGMs”)

- 5.6 An Emergency General Meeting (“EGM”) for its members, or their authorised representatives:
 - may be called by the NEC, and
 - must be called by the Party Secretary if requested to do so by written applications from at least 40 per cent (40%) of the Party’s duly registered and properly constituted branches.
- 5.7 Each such application must:
 - include a written statement, signed by the respective branch chairman, certifying that the application was supported by a majority of members attending a properly convened branch meeting,
 - set out the business to be dealt with at the EGM, and
 - be accompanied by payments to the Party account from the relevant branch bank account for such sum as the NEC determines to be a reasonable contribution towards the cost of the meeting.
- 5.8 Any EGM that is called must:
 - give a minimum of 28 days’ notice,

- when called by the Party Secretary as set out above, be held within three months of the threshold for calling the meeting being satisfied.

Authorised branches and groups

5.9 The NEC may:

- authorise the establishment of branches or groups of supporters and or members in furtherance of the Party's objectives, and
- stipulate rules for the organisation, structure and procedure of these branches and groups.

5.10 No such branch or group may exist or operate within the Party save with the express written consent of the NEC and such consent can be withdrawn by the NEC passing a motion to that effect.

Part 6: NATIONAL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (“NEC”)

Powers

- 6.1 The Party’s NEC shall have duties, powers and responsibilities that include (but are not limited to):
- upholding the Constitution,
 - satisfying legal obligations imposed by company law or otherwise,
 - ensuring that the Party works towards achieving its objectives as set by the Constitution and otherwise,
 - ensuring that the Party is run and organised efficiently and effectively,
 - managing the Party's funds, structure and employees,
 - determining the Party’s policies, priorities and manifestos,
 - managing the Party’s disciplinary procedures, and
 - making or amending the Party’s Rules.
- 6.2 The NEC may establish working parties and sub-committees with a membership that includes Party members who are not NEC members.

Composition

- 6.3 The NEC shall be composed of:
- the Party Leader, and
 - 12 other Party members.
- 6.4 The NEC shall appoint from within its membership the following officers (with functions described below):
- a Party Chairman,
 - a Party Treasurer, and
 - a Party Secretary.

Eligibility

- 6.5 Only Party members are eligible for election to the NEC and only Party members may serve or continue to serve as NEC members.
- 6.6 If the Party membership of a serving NEC member is suspended, that member shall automatically be suspended from the NEC for the duration of the suspension.
- 6.7 If the Party membership of a serving NEC member shall terminate, the person’s membership of the NEC shall be deemed to have ended when his Party membership terminated.

Election

- 6.8 The 12 other Party members shall be elected in a membership ballot (which may be by post or electronic mail or at an Annual Conference or EGM), except:
- as provided in Part 10 below (Commencement of this Constitution), or
 - in the event of an NEC member's membership being terminated the NEC may appoint a replacement NEC member with a term of office (see below) ending when the term would have ended for the person replaced.
- 6.9 The election shall take place on the basis of the first past the post system. Each Party member may cast a number of votes up to, but not exceeding, the number of vacancies and all votes shall be of equal value.
- 6.10 Elections to the NEC shall be conducted in accordance with rules established by the NEC.

Term of office

- 6.11 NEC members shall serve for a term not exceeding 4 years and each shall be eligible to re-serve at the completion of each term.
- 6.12 The term of any particular NEC member may be extended by the NEC with a motion passed by not less than two-thirds (of those who either voted for or against the motion or who abstained from voting). Any such extension may be for no more than three months to enable the member to stay in post in order to fight an imminent General Election or for any other compelling reason.

Termination

- 6.13 NEC membership may be terminated by the member:
- by giving written notice to the Party Chairman, (and such notice has effect either immediately or at any date within 28 days, as stipulated by the member), or
 - upon his death in which case termination takes place upon death.
- 6.14 NEC membership may be terminated by the NEC:
- with a motion to that effect passed by not less than two-thirds (of those who either voted for or against the motion or who abstained from voting).
- 6.15 Termination by the NEC as above may only be on one or more of the following grounds, namely that the member has:
- engaged in conduct bringing the Party into disrepute,
 - engaged in unbecoming conduct in the course of NEC meetings, or
 - abused, harassed or bullied a fellow NEC member or Party employee whether paid or unpaid,
 - breached NEC or Party confidentiality, or
 - persistently failed to attend NEC meetings without good cause.

- 6.16 The member against whom such a motion is proposed shall be given no less than seven days' notice in writing of the meeting. He shall be entitled to attend, to address and vote at the meeting. He may make written representations to the meeting. He may also question any member or other witness whose evidence is considered by the NEC to be relevant to the issue on the same basis as any other party and he may call witnesses on his own behalf on the same basis as obtained during the case against him.
- 6.17 If the member against whom such a motion is proposed cannot attend the meeting, he must be given a reasonable opportunity to attend on a subsequent occasion. Provided he has been given reasonable notice of such rearranged meeting, the NEC may proceed to deal with the matter in his absence if the NEC is of the opinion that, in all the circumstances, it would be fair, reasonable and just to do so and that he has had a reasonable opportunity to attend.

Conduct of meetings and quorum

- 6.18 The NEC shall meet at least six times a year.
- 6.19 Meetings shall be chaired by the Party Chairman or, in the Chairman's absence, by any Vice Chairman (as appointed below) or, in the absence of both, by an NEC member appointed by the NEC for that meeting only.
- 6.20 Where the constitution requires a two-thirds majority before a motion can be passed:
- the quorum is nine NEC members, and
 - the Chairman may vote.
- 6.21 For all other motions:
- the quorum is seven NEC members,
 - decisions are to be taken by a simple majority, and
 - the Chairman may not vote save that he may vote to decide an issue when the votes on each side are equal, (see article 8.2 below).

Emergency NEC meetings

- 6.22 Any five or more NEC members may requisition an Emergency NEC Meeting by notifying the Party Secretary in writing signed by each of them to summon one as soon as practicable. The document calling for such a meeting shall set out the business to be discussed and any motions to be put at that meeting.

Part 7: PARTY LEADER

Status and powers

- 7.1 In accordance with the *Political Parties, Elections and Referendums Act 2000*, s24, the Party Leader is the overall leader of the Party.
- 7.2 The Party Leader shall:
- have lead responsibility for the political development and direction of the Party,
 - be a member of the NEC, and
 - have the right to be a full member of all sub-committees and working groups set up by the NEC.

Election

- 7.3 A leadership election shall be initiated and overseen by the Party Secretary and shall be conducted in accordance with rules determined by the NEC.
- 7.4 The Party Leader shall be elected in a membership ballot (which may be by post or electronic mail or at an Annual Conference or EGM), except:
- as provided in Part 10 below (Commencement of this Constitution), or
 - if there is only one candidate he shall be declared as Party Leader without the need for a ballot.

Term of office

- 7.5 The Party Leader shall serve for a term not exceeding 4 years and he shall be eligible to re-serve at the completion of each term.
- 7.6 The Leader's term may be extended by the NEC with a motion passed by not less than two-thirds (of those who either voted for or against the motion or who abstained from voting). Any such extension may be for no more than three months to enable the Leader to stay in post in order to fight an imminent General Election or for any other compelling reason.

Termination

- 7.7 The Party Leader's position may be terminated by:
- him giving written notice to the Party Secretary, (and such notice has effect either immediately or at any date within three months, as stipulated by the Party Leader), or
 - upon his death in which case termination takes place upon death.
- 7.8 Upon termination or receiving notice of termination (whichever is the earlier) the Party Secretary must call an NEC meeting within 14 days.

Deputy Leader

- 7.9 The Party Leader shall appoint from within the NEC membership a person to be Deputy Leader. The Deputy Leader shall carry out such duties as the Party Leader shall assign to him.
- 7.10 In the event of there being no Leader following the termination of that position (as set out above) the Deputy Leader shall assume the Constitutional powers and duties of the Party Leader until an Interim Leader is appointed.

Interim Leader

- 7.11 Where a vacancy in the Party Leadership occurs, the NEC shall within 21 days appoint an Interim Leader to lead the Party until a Leadership election takes place. Such Interim Leader shall have all the powers of the Party Leader under the Constitution as if he had been elected to that post.

Part 8: CHAIRMAN, TREASURER AND SECRETARY

Chairman

8.1 The Party Chairman shall:

- chair meetings of the NEC, Annual Conference and EGMs,
- have overall responsibility for administration and direction of the Party organisation,
- be responsible for ensuring that all efforts are made to have an active and properly constituted organisation of the Party in every constituency, financially able to support a parliamentary election campaign,
- report to the NEC on Party and branch activity, and
- be responsible for all matters relating to Party Conference organisation, including the selection of motions for debate.

8.2 The Party Chairman may not vote at any of the above meetings save that he may vote:

- to decide an issue when the votes on each side are equal, and
- on any motion that under the Constitution requires a two-thirds majority before it can be passed.

Treasurer

8.3 The Party Treasurer shall:

- perform functions required of the treasurer under the *Political Parties, Elections and Referendums Act 2000*,
- report on the Party's finances to the NEC and ensure that the NEC is fully informed about the Party's finances,
- prepare annual accounts and present them to the NEC, and
- be responsible for complying with all statutes and requirements of the Electoral Commission applicable to financial reporting, probity and otherwise.

Secretary

8.4 The Party Secretary shall:

- be the Party's Nominating Officer, as required by the *Political Parties, Elections and Referendums Act 2000*, and shall accordingly control the registered Party descriptions and emblems and be responsible for the appointment of Deputy Nominating Officers as appropriate,
- ensure that the Party's administrative and other arrangements comply with legal requirements placed on it other than those relating to finance,

- establish and chair a Discipline Committee subject to and in accordance with rules made by the NEC,
- convene meetings of the NEC its sub-committees and working parties,
- create and maintain appropriate administrative records with appropriate backup and archiving,
- act as Secretary to the NEC,
- maintain accurate records and minutes of meetings and decisions of the NEC, its sub-committees and working parties,
- maintain and make available for distribution rules and other decisions made by the NEC,
- organise and conduct NEC elections subject to NEC Rules, and
- maintain records of membership of the NEC and its sub-committees.

Vice-Chairman

8.5 The NEC may appoint a Vice Chairman from amongst the NEC members who shall, in the absence of the Chairman, perform the Chairman's functions. The Vice Chairman may act generally in place of the Chairman if the Chairman is absent for any period over two weeks or is incapacitated through illness or is otherwise unable to undertake the Chairman's duties. A Vice Chairman acting in the place of the Party Chairman shall have the same voting powers and restrictions as the Chairman.

Separation of office

8.6 The offices of Party Leader, Deputy Party Leader, Party Chairman, Party Treasurer, Party Secretary, and any Vice Chairman shall each be held by a different person.

Part 9: DISCIPLINE

Discipline Committee

- 9.1 The NEC may deal with all disciplinary matters of Party supporters and members or may from time to time establish a Discipline Committee for that purpose in which case it shall:
- be chaired by the Party Secretary,
 - comprise in addition either two or four NEC members,
 - if natural justice so requires, be comprised solely or partly of non-NEC Party members.

Remedies

- 9.2 Upon the conclusion of any disciplinary matter the NEC or Discipline Committee may take any of the following action or actions:
- take no action,
 - issue oral or written advice to the Respondent as to future conduct,
 - give the Respondent a written caution as to future conduct,
 - suspend the Respondent from attending branch meetings for a specified period,
 - suspend the Respondent from Party supportership or membership for a specified period,
 - suspend the Respondent from elected Party office and/or candidature for elective office for a specified period,
 - terminate the Respondent's supportership or membership for a specified period or permanently,
 - if the member is elected to public office, remove the Party Whip or
 - take any other reasonable and proportionate action that it deems to be warranted by the circumstances.
- 9.3 The Party Secretary shall make a written note of all disciplinary hearings upon conclusion.

Part 10: COMMENCEMENT AND AMENDMENT

Commencement

10.1 This constitution shall come into force immediately following a declaration of its approval by a unanimous vote of the NEC, which for this purpose shall consist of the Party Leader and 12 others who shall be:

- the Party's founding members, and
- notwithstanding anything above that requires such persons to be elected, shall, in the case of the Party Leader be the Party Leader who, with the other 12 shall be NEC members with all the rights and responsibilities pertaining to such persons as if they had been elected.

Amendment

10.2 The Constitution may be amended by a membership ballot (which may be by post or electronic mail or at an Annual Conference or EGM) in which not less than two-thirds of those members who vote, vote in favour.

10.3 Such amendments shall come into force seven days after the result of such an affirmative vote is declared.

10.4 Such a ballot shall be held if:

- the NEC passes a motion to that effect by not less than two-thirds (of those who either voted for or against the motion or who abstained from voting), or
- the procedure set out above for calling an EGM is followed and satisfied.

10.5 The NEC shall have the right to put separate and distinct elements or clauses amending the Constitution to separate votes for the approval of a two-thirds majority of members voting in such a ballot.

Appendix: Ten principles to make Britain great again

xxxx is a political party that champions the ordinary men and women of the United Kingdom, whose interests have been overlooked for decades by mainstream parties. xxxx is a national and patriotic party that cherishes liberty, free speech and democracy. It challenges the woke and divisive mainstream narrative that serves the interests of a global elite. Its counter-narrative puts family, workplace, community and nation first and to this end its programme is built on these ten principles.

Overarching principles

1. Champion free speech

Cancel culture is a curse that impairs free speech. It is usually deployed by the left to silence criticism of their woke agenda. The market place of ideas can only function if everyone is free to speak their mind without fearing unjust consequences. Free speech makes democracy possible by enabling the best ideas to win majority support. Without it democracy yields to tyranny.

2. Revive democracy

There is more to democracy than universal suffrage. In a democracy each person's opinion is listened to and power is exercised on the basis of majority consent. British democracy has been undermined by a political class that distrusts majority opinion and which prefers to listen to organisations peddling an elite and woke perspective. Many organisations in the public and private sectors have grown powerful by disregarding ordinary opinion. xxxx will champion the common sense views of ordinary people in order to revive British democracy.

3. Take back control

Despite 'take back control' being the rallying cry behind Brexit, Britain remains impaired by a web of international restrictions and fetters that are exercised by lawyers, judges and assorted technocrats. Britain will not have the powers of a sovereign state until it has withdrawn from the European Convention on Human Rights, several UN Conventions (such as the Geneva Convention on Refugees) and other treaties and institutions that take decision making away from the British people and vest it in supra-national bodies. International co-operation must be on the basis of consent and without shackling the laws and rightful freedoms of a nation.

Culture

4. Control immigration

Government promises to control immigration have not been kept. Last year saw a record inflow of 677,000 migrants and a net figure of 313,000 – an influx equal in size to the population of Reading. Decades of mass immigration from citizens who do not share liberal democratic norms and whose cultures have been encouraged in the name of 'diversity' has left Britain a fractured nation where race, religion and culture have weakened the cohesiveness of British society. Mass immigration also puts pressures on services, depresses wages and absolve the nation from utilising and training its own citizens. xxxx will reduce annual immigration to the tens of thousands and will promote the melting pot of assimilation over the salad bowl of multiculturalism.

5. Win the culture war

Wokeism must be challenged so that there is: no encouraging of confused kids to 'change' sex; no unconscious bias training; and no challenge to recruitment, promotion and outcomes on the sole basis of merit. Public institutions - such as the BBC, schools, universities, the NHS and police forces - must return to discharging their paramount purpose untrammelled by notions of diversity and political correctness. xxxx will encourage a counter-narrative to wokeism that recognises the centrality of the nuclear family, the importance of history and tradition and the need for citizenship to be based on common values and norms.

Education and economy

6. Restore education

The education system is so dumbed down that it mostly fails to inspire, challenge and train the brain and the hand. All children should be taught: grammar and spelling; to read poetry and actual books; times tables, facts and dates; British history as a celebration of events and great people who explain our past and inspire our future; manners and respect for their teachers. Sixteen year olds should be expected to work or learn a skill or a trade unless they have the inclination and ability to progress to a rigorous programme of further and higher education.

7. Rebuild the economy

Globalisation has undermined British manufacturing and skewed its economy to meet the needs of the few. Monopolies and multi-national companies have trumped market forces as regulation and public subsidies seek to fill the void. xxxx will protect British industry, farming and fisheries and cut red tape and taxes in order to stimulate growth. The economy needs to be rebalanced to meet the needs of lower paid workers, many of whom are currently trapped on welfare subsidies.

8. Cut the green nonsense

Conservation in town and countryside is important but the green movement's policies on climate change are based on alarm and virtue signalling. They can also only be implemented by placing intolerable burdens on ordinary people and the nation to the benefit of the wealthy, China and other developing nations. Britain needs shale gas and other energy which is abundant and cheap.

Defence and law and order

9. Maintain strong armed forces

Britain needs strong armed forces for defence and protection but it should not use them for foreign wars of intervention where there is no national interest at stake.

10. Fight crime and restore law and order

Crime is on the increase and blights communities. The police often ignore it and the criminal justice system frequently fails to punish it. Criminals need to fear the police and the punishments that their crimes deserve.